THE BENEFITS TO HIRING INDIVIDUALS WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES: EMPLOYERS' PERSPECTIVES







Final Report 2018



a place of mind THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

**Centre for Inclusion and Citizenship** 





Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada



#### Prepared by:

Taylor Wells, Lead Researcher, taylor.wells@alumni.ubc.ca Dr. Rachelle Hole, Supervisor, rachelle.hole@ubc.ca Dr. Shelly Ben-David, Committee member, shelly.ben-david@ubc.ca Dr. John Graham, Committee member, john.graham@ubc.ca

School of Social Work University British Columbia Okanagan Campus 1147 Research Road Kelowna, British Columbia V1V 1V7, Canada P: 250-807-8738 F: 250-807-9865 ask.socialwork@ubc.ca

#### **Centre of Inclusion and Citizenship**

c/o Dr. Rachelle Hole FHSD/ARTS 1147 Research Road Kelowna, British Columbia V1V 1V7, Canada

Funded in part by the Canadian Institutes for Health Research, the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council and the Centre for Inclusion and Citizenship.

Final Report 2018

#### Summary

Employment is important for all people as it provides a sense of purpose and meaningful contribution to society. People with Intellectual Disabilities (ID) often face employer discrimination when searching for work. This report summarizes a study completed for a master's thesis in the School of Social Work at the University of British Columbia Okanagan. In the study, employers who have hired and retained employees with ID were interviewed on their experiences. The goal of the study was to learn about the benefits associated with hiring people with ID, and to obtain advice from experienced employers to provide information to hesitant employers. Negative stereotypes about people with ID can be challenged with knowledge on how people with ID contribute to the workforce. The findings from the study can be used to educate hesitant employers on the benefits to hiring people with ID, with the hope of improving employment rates for people with ID.

## **Table of Contents**

| Why is this study important?   | 1  |
|--|----|
| Background Information   | 1  |
| Key Definitions  | 1  |
| How was this study implemented?  | 2  |
| Methodology  | 2  |
| Participant Demographics   | 2  |
| What are the benefits to hiring people with Intellectual Disabilities? | 3  |
| 1 Workplace Environment  | 3  |
| 2 Business   | 4  |
| 3 Employer Job Satisfaction  | 6  |
| 4 Community Support and Expertise                                      | 7  |
| What should be done with these findings?                               | 8  |
| Advice from the study's employers to hesitant employers                | 8  |
| Conclusions  | 10 |
| References   | 12 |

# Why is this study important?

## **Background Information**

Employment is an important milestone for all individuals, regardless of ability. Employment is a social determinant of health, contributing to improved physical and mental health, including self-esteem, confidence, and greater life satisfaction <sup>1-3</sup>. Employment can provide a structured routine and a social community/network, as well as provide purpose and a sense of meaningful contribution to society <sup>4</sup>. Additionally, employment can provide an environment to learn new and relevant skills, and, one of the primary motivators, money/benefits for life's necessities and pleasures <sup>4-6</sup>. Many individuals with Intellectual Disabilities (ID) desire meaningful community participation and are motivated to work <sup>4,7</sup>. Despite this desire, employment rates for people with ID are considerably low <sup>8,9</sup>. Negative employer attitudes are one of the main barriers faced by individuals with ID in securing competitive integrated employment <sup>10-16</sup>. It is a myth that many of those with ID do not want to work and/or are unable to work. No one who wants to work, should be excluded from the labour market, and with the right assessment, tools, support, and welcoming employers, this is achievable.

## **Key Definitions**

Developmental Disability (DD) - Umbrella term that includes all disabilities that manifest before the age of 18 years, such as intellectual and/or physical disabilities <sup>17</sup>

Intellectual Disability (ID) - A form of Development Disability; Impaired intellectual and adaptive functioning that manifests before the age of 18 years. For the purpose of this study and in recognizing the heterogeneity of the population labeled as ID, employees with ID are not defined by their Intelligence Quotient (IQ) score nor the severity of their disability <sup>18,19</sup>

Adaptive Functioning - How well a person independently manages common life demands, such as social skills, conceptual skills, and practical skills<sup>20</sup>

Employment First - Initiative for systemic change that prioritizes competitive integrated employment for disabled people, before any other non-employment options are considered <sup>21</sup>

Competitive Integrated Employment - Employment in the open-labour market that provides at least minimum wage and similar benefits to all employees, regardless of ability <sup>21</sup>

Diversability - Rebranding of the term 'disability'. Connotes the recognition of the diverse abilities of individuals who want to contribute and participate in society

Heterogeneous/heterogeneity - Diverse in character

# How was the study implemented?

### Methodology

Employers who have had one and a half- to 30 years' experience hiring employees with ID were interviewed on the benefits to hiring and retaining workers with ID. The sample included 13 employers and 2 additional workplace managers, totalling 15 participants. Interviews were semi-structured by using a written guide and lasted on average 46 minutes. With participant permission, interviews were recorded and/or hand-written notes were taken. The audio recordings and notes were typed on a computer and analyzed using a qualitative data analysis software.

### **Participant demographics**

Table 1 depicts the number of years' experience employers had in hiring people with ID. Table 2 depicts employment longevity. Some employers had more than one employee with ID; Note in Table 2 that the number of employees is greater than the number of study participants (employers). Additionally, in some cases, the employers had many employees with ID (i.e., 15) and could not provide exact numbers regarding employment longevity; these employees are not included in Table 2.

| Table 1 Employer Years' Experience |                   | Table 2 Employment Longevity of Employees with ID |                              |
|------------------------------------|-------------------|---|------------------------------|
| # of Employers                     | Years' Experience | # of Employees                                    | Employment Longevity (Years) |
| 3                                  | 1 to 2            | 4   | 1                            |
| 2                                  | 3 to 5            | 3   | 2                            |
| 4                                  | 6 to 10           | 3   | 3 to 5                       |
| 1                                  | 11 to 15          | 1   | 6 to 10                      |
| 1                                  | 16 to 20          | 2   | 11 to 15                     |
| 1                                  | 21 to 25          | 1   | Over 15                      |
| 1                                  | Over 30           |   |                              |

# What are the benefits to hiring people with Intellectual Disabilities?

According to the collective responses of the 15 participants, employing individuals with ID lead to a more positive workplace environment, better business and greater employer job satisfaction. Additionally, most employees with ID were accompanied by community support and expertise, which employers identified as a benefit to hiring people with ID as it contributed to the employees' success in the workplace. It is important to remember the employers' heterogeneity, just as it is important to remember the heterogeneity of the population that identify as intellectually disabled. These are their collective responses; the diversity of the employers in this study contribute to differing opinions and experiences that could not all be individually expressed.

### 1 Workplace Environment

Hiring employees with ID led to a more positive workplace environment, bolstered by their personalities, contributing to a sense of teamwork and employer perspective shift on workplace operations.

Employee Personality - Employees with ID were described by their employers as, kind, • passionate, social, dedicated, humorous, thankful, and hardworking. Many employers explained how their employees' personalities contributed to their success in the I feel like she loves doing workplace in that they have an appreciative attitude and are eager [her work] so much and to do a good job and please their supervisors and coworkers. Most has such a good attitude employers also mentioned their employees' social and caring nature doing it... For example, and how this contributed to a more positive workplace environment. some of our employees, They also mentioned how appreciative their employees are for the when you ask them to do stuff...[they] are negative opportunity to demonstrate their worth and to be praised for their and [say] it's tedious and work. Some employers described their employees' constant positive boring but for Lisa, she is attitudes and energy, in that they are always smiling and having fun. so excited to come and do Many employers explained how these characteristics influence their that stuff - Employer 3 other employees, creating a more positive atmosphere.

It would be nice to see if we had somebody like [the employee with ID] in every program, because there is a lot of affection attached to [him]: [it's] relationship [building] - Employer 1

• Team-Building - Employers discussed the sense teamwork their employees with ID brought to the

workforce. Many employers discussed how their staff is willing to work together and help each other. This extended beyond non-disabled employees helping those employees with ID, but with all staff helping each other. This sense of teamwork provides employees with greater purpose and greater responsibility. It encourages employees with a desire

[I wanted] not better employees, but better people...I wanted the girls here to kind of adopt her if you will, and they have - Employer 9 to come to work. Many employers also discussed the increased respect staff members have for their ...It's a fantastic team-building exercise for people that run businesses, if they want to build teams. How many people work towards a common goal? If the common goal is 'we're going to work with...people [with ID] and we're going to see them succeed and go forward and see the changes that happen,' I mean I'd go to work for that...that would make my day at work a lot better - Employer 13

colleagues (i.e., employees without disabilities understand how employees with ID contribute to the workforce). When colleagues recognize and appreciate each other's work and respect each other, they are more likely to want to work together. This all contributes to a more positive workplace environment.

• **Perspective shift** - Hiring individuals with ID provides the opportunity to see employment and company operation through a different lens; it encourages employers to realize the importance of a more positive work environment, and how this contributes to better, more hard-working employees. Additional shifts in perspective included seeing the benefits to job customization (employment that involves carving out/tailoring a position within a company that may not have previously existed), and the importance of flexibility. Many employers

noted that all staff should be treated differently as everyone has different strengths, interests and desires. Some employers posited that when all employees are given tasks that are suited to their strengths, workplace operations run more smoothly. Regarding flexibility, some employers stated that it is worth investing the time in hiring and retaining employees with ID for the hard-working and dedicated employees you receive.

I think that anybody in [the] community who is hiring inclusively needs to recognize that they have to not only change their day-to-day practices with that individual that has [a] diverse situation, they have to practice that with their regular mainstream employees, and as soon as they do that, I think you are going to see a swift change in the whole structure of how people perceive their employers: the happiness piece in the workplace - Employer 5

### 2 Business

Employees with ID contributed to better business by filling roles, demonstrating strong work ethics and bringing diversity to the workforce. As a preface, it is importance to note that many employees with ID *contribute* to better business, not necessarily that they alone are the reason for better business. Employees with ID do not necessarily create more business; that said, in most employment settings, it is unreasonable to expect any employee, regardless of ability, to solely create more business for a company/organization. Nonetheless, it is reasonable to expect that all your employees contribute to better business in some way; employees with ID are no different.

• Filled roles - Employees with ID are filling roles that need to be filled; they are completing tasks that

need to be completed by someone. Employers described a variety roles and responsibilities. As examples, the employees with ID were cooks, cashiers, cleaners, early childhood educators, dishwashers, courtesy clerks, sales representatives and much more. They completed tasks such as stocking shelves, recycling, checking and ordering inventory, shredding, performing sweep logs, training other staff, shoveling, heavy lifting, and much more. Employees

We have minimum requirements that anybody needs to meet to work here, and these individuals [with ID] meet this requirement - Employer 6 ranged from working one halfday a week to 40 hours a week. This was based on both [Receiving subsidies for disabled workers] doesn't change if I'm going to hire them or not: if I get it, it's great. If I don't, it's fine...because I still need to have those roles filled and...to be totally honest, I have less challenges sometimes with people that have intellectual disabilities than the...[other] people - Employer 4

employee and employer needs. Some of the employees with ID had the same job descriptions and qualifications as employees without disabilities. Some of the employees with ID had more customizable positions where they were filling a gap in service and/or completing certain tasks so other employees could focus solely on completing their tasks.

#### • Employee work ethic - Employers

underscored the work ethic of their employees with ID. Many of the employees with ID requested a challenge and were excited to take on new tasks. Employers spoke about their employees with ID in terms of their dedication to work, and their job ownership. Finding dedicated employees is difficult for many employers, and it makes good business-sense to seek out employees who are ready, willing

...that is one of our biggest challenges...to have the employees that are dedicated...lots of them are just a bit flaky and you know, it could a server, a kitchen person, it could be anybody, just kind of "Oh, I'm really sick today" or ... "Oh, I have to go out of town," but with [my employee with ID]... it's not...the responsibility that he has, he recognizes that as a responsibility - Employer 7

and able. With dedication, also comes longevity. Some employers voiced difficulty in retaining employees for more than two years, especially in some of the roles that the employees with ID fill. Hiring people with ID can be a good business decision, especially in terms employment longevity.

His attendance is impeccable. He's never sick. He never complains and...he's like the perfect employee - Employer 12

• **Colleague work ethic** - Another benefit to hiring employees with ID is an increase in staff's work ethic. Some employers discussed a change in staff members' work ethic with having a co-worker with ID. These changes were two-fold: 1) colleagues demonstrated emerging leadership and supervisory skills, and 2) colleagues' work ethics were challenged due to the strong work ethic of the employees with ID. Improved colleague work ethic could be another benefit to hiring someone with ID. Remember again the concept of heterogeneity; each person with ID is different and each staff

member and staff dynamic is different. In most cases, it is unreasonable to expect one staff member to promote greater work ethic in all other staff members.

I'm thinking of Bob. Every single day that he's there, he's the only employee I've had to say slow down to...This guy just goes nuts, but what does he do? He shows everyone else that it can be done. So now you're praising him and saying "c'mon [to the rest of the staff]" - Employer 10

Diversity - Some employers discussed how a diverse work environment can make good business-sense. Some employers noticed that customers enjoy seeing the diversity in their workplace. This can draw customers to the company/organization and increase business. An employer explained how customers are drawn to their particular company because they hire inclusively and/or because the customer identifies with the diverse group that works there.

### 3 Employer Job Satisfaction

Employers experienced greater job satisfaction in knowing that they were making a difference by hiring inclusively and connecting to the community. Employers themselves also reap the benefits of a more positive workplace environment that is promoted by the personality and contributions of those with ID and the teambuilding that it ensues. When employers shift their perspectives, it can also promote greater job satisfaction and happiness not only at work but also outside of work.

Spend the time to get to know the individual [with ID]. Know your people. Promote their welfare first, like you would do with anybody else. Because in the end of the day, you will actually probably benefit more yourself, you'll learn more - Employer 11

[I get] to celebrate [diversity] every day...I'm not supposed to feel this much joy at work! - Employer 2

• **Community Connection** - Employers voiced job satisfaction related to the fact that their company/organization is connected to the community. Some employers stated how they strive to be community-oriented and serve the community, and how there is great satisfaction in that. Some employers voiced satisfaction in knowing they are contributing to a society where the community

appreciates seeing diversity in the stores where they shop, in the restaurants where they eat, and in the places they go for recreational activities. Similarly, some employers voiced happiness in knowing that people with disabilities are seeing their social group represented in the workforce and in the community. Many employers interviewed were also connected to community employment support services and accessed their expertise to ensure the most successful employment for

It gives the rest of the staff, and the [employees with ID] ...a sense of community. I mean, you see someone who isn't like them, and that's what I like. I love seeing [that], you know, and I love them...I look at us as being community-building...We're here to make sure [the recreational activity] exists in the community...It's [about] seeing other parts of the community involved and active...and that's one of the reasons I do it...that's what we are. We do all kinds of things like that, to be community-oriented - Employer 8 their employees with ID. When employers and social service providers come together, each bringing their expertise, they work towards building a sense of community.

## 4 Community Support and Expertise

Employers commented on the benefits of community support professionals who assist with hiring, training and retaining employees with ID. It was argued that anyone can benefit from one-on-one support, regardless of ability. Therefore, when employees with ID are accompanied by a one-on-one support worker with expertise, this can be interpreted as a benefit to hiring people with ID. From the experiences of the employers interviewed, free support in the community can ensure successful employment for those with ID, so employers can more readily see and reap the benefits of having an employee with ID.

 Hiring Support - When asking the employers about the hiring process, it was discerned that community support professional assisted in finding the best person for the job, by performing assessments and discerning individuals' likes and strengths. The community support professionals had discussions with the employers about company/organization needs and/or gaps

[We determine the skillsets of our employees with ID] with [them] ... and [with] the external support that we're getting ... We took 5 or 6 different jobs and gave them all to [the external support to decide], and we might get one employee doing pieces from this job, pieces from this job, pieces from this job, because [the support worker] recognized that this is a skillset this person can have. They have a skillset that they love talking to people and they can show some efficiency in that. Great! Let's get 'em in there - Employer 10

in service. Through this dialogue and through the community support workers' expertise in assessment, the community support professionals provided employers with job candidates who could perform the required tasks. Community support professionals also provided their expertise in customization, helping employers to think outside the box when delegating work tasks.

• **Training Support** - Most employers described the community support professionals as typically realistic in the additional supports that some people with ID require in starting a new position. For

[There is] no incurred labour [to] bring someone in to support - Employer 11 most employers, community support professionals provided complementary individualized hands-on support in teaching the new employee with ID the most effective methods to perform their new job (typically referred to as 'job coaches'). This alleviated any training concerns with having a new employee with ID and gave the employers and managers time to focus on their other roles within the company/organization. This training support not only alleviated time concerns, but also concerns in how to train people with ID. The job coaches have expertise in how to effectively train someone with particular communication and learning

styles, setting the employees with ID up for success. In most circumstances, the community support professionals also provided continual assessment. For example, employers communicated with the job coach before increasing employee responsibility at work. Assessment also occurred when job coaches started to wean off their support; they assessed when their clients were able to work with less support, or with no support, providing retaining strategies to the employer, stating they were available to assist whenever needed.

[Without the support], I don't think that the person [with ID] ...would have got as much care. It was a good education experience for us, for the supervisors, to have a professional that [is] trained [to work with] people with disabilities, because we're not, right? We have operations backgrounds. We don't even have HR backgrounds. They just did a really good job on, again, educating us. They one hundred percent took care of them, brought them to and from break, made sure that they were trained, that they were being taken care of - Employer 12

• **Retaining Support** - Most employers found advantage to having community support when addressing employer retention for their employees with ID. For some employers the community

support professional would perform reviews. For others, they made themselves available for check-ins if necessary. Some employers found that they did not need any assistance with retaining their employee with ID as the employee with ID was adequately trained and knew how to do their job. Additionally, some employers felt capable to retain their employees themselves, just like any other employee.

[The employee with ID] has been here for a really long time, so [the support] is not really needed. We have a good relationship with [the employee with ID]. She knows she is comfortable here and loves coming here, so it's pretty easy to train her with things... She is very independent and good at coming in and doing her thing - Employer 3

# What should be done with these findings?

The 'what should be done with these findings?' is the whole purpose of a study such as this one. The present study contributes to the Employment First initiative in its attempts for systemic change, including competitive integrated employment for disabled people. Emphasis is placed on autonomy, career development, and community integration. One of the primary goals of the present study was to educate employers on the benefits to hiring people with ID.

### Advice from the study's employers to hesitant employers

Above and beyond the employers' contribution to the literature on the benefits to hiring people with disabilities, study participants provided advice to hesitant employers.

Seek education - Collectively, the employers interviewed stated that more hesitant employers should seek education on disability and inclusivity as well as seek contact with persons with disabilities. Employers discussed how the fear could be diminished by talking to employers like themselves, who have had success in retaining employees with ID.

"[We need] to connect them with somebody like myself that has had a good experience...to actually have an example of an employer that can say...these are the benefits - Employer 12

 Shift your perspective - Shift how you view workplace operations and accommodate all employees, as every staff member, regardless of ability, has challenges and strengths. Some employers defined disability as 'diversability' and encourage others to shift their perspective in how they view people with ID.

I hate the word disability. It implies that someone is not able...and that's why we reference...diversability, because people are diverse and...they may have something...going on but that's okay, because if we are all diverse in how we think, then the world becomes a better place. So I'm not a fan of the word disability because I do believe that the word 'dis' is a dis. It is a dis to the individual and it's a disservice to that person who has a diagnosis... - Employer 5

It's not disability, it's diversabilities and what it is, is people that are challenged by certain parts of their intellect. That doesn't mean they are stupid, it just means that they have a challenge in learning things, they have a challenge in how they approach things, they have a challenge in their memory. Whatever they have a challenge with, it doesn't mean that they have a disability. It just means that they learn or they speak or they communicate in different ways; so I always try to look at it that way...if you can find what they do, what they want to do, what their strength is, then that's what they need to do, is find tasks that embrace their strengths - Employer 8

Access support - Employers should access support, whether for hands-on support in hiring

(assessment), training and retaining, and/or financial support. Community support professionals can

also share their expertise in describing the benefits to hiring

people with ID, can connect hesitant employers to

experienced employers.

[This] makes good business sense and you get good training [from the support] - Employer 11

During the hiring, we need to partner up with organizations that are supporting people with disabilities because they have the expertise and the training to assess and evaluate different kinds of disabilities. Whereas I know nothing, and most employers won't know anything. So, I would say to find a nonprofit that runs this type of employment service and investigate them and see if you could use them. And then during the training process again make your expectations really clear to the support worker as to what you expect. Raise your concerns in advance and then collaborate with the agency to try and find a fit - Employer 13

**Promote strong management** - Employers mentioned the importance of having a strong

management team at work and provided definitions of effective leadership. This is advice for any workplace, regardless of the employees' abilities. Nonetheless, the employers interviewed stated that effective leadership is evidenced by continual assessment, clear communication,

[This is] what it should be with every employee and I think because of that, that's where we're seeing some success with some long-term people - Employer 10 transparency, approachability, patience, and flexibility. The employers interviewed stated that employers should provide concrete expectations and clear instructions. They should ask relevant questions and provide constant encouragement and positive reinforcement. This too should be for all employees, regardless of ability.

My management team is really strong...so generally I would say within six months you can kind of see [that they are ready for more roles], three to six months, and that's normal for anybody right. Can they take on more, depending on their capacity, do they want to take on more...? - Employer 4

- Some employers provided advice on how to train employees with ID through modeling and leading by example. One small-sized employer stated that she draws diagrams for her employee with ID so he has a visual reminder of the tasks at hand (Employer 1). Another employer explained that he follows up with his employee with ID to ensure that he understand what was explained, asking him to "mirror it back (Employer 12)." One medium-sized employer stated that it can be as simple as "showing different ways to do the same thing (Employer 2)" Another employer stated, "I'll do things with her the first time and then the next time she is good on her own (Employer 3)." This patience and flexibility is a great mindset for management teams for all employees as everyone has their strengths, weaknesses, and learning styles.
- Try it! Some employers explicitly stated that hesitant employers should hire people with ID, because after you try it, you'll begin to learn their

Try it! Give it a chance...Just see what it does, how it helps, what they can do - Employer 4

value.

It's easy to [hire people with ID], and it's easy not to [hire people with ID]. So, it's easy to hire these people [with ID] – bring them on, get their energy, get them showing what they can do, or it's easy not to. Choose the easy to do - Employer 10

### Conclusions

The findings in the present study speak to the benefits to hiring people with ID, while remembering the heterogeneity of all peoples.

Four major findings emerged that describe the benefits to hiring people with ID:

- 1) Workplace Environment
- 2) Business

- 3) Employer Job Satisfaction
- 4) Community Support and Expertise

Employers in the study provided advice to hesitant employers, stating they should:

- Seek education
- Shift their perspective
- Access support
- Promote strong management
- Try it!

Although employers are the primary intended audience for the study, they are not the only intended audience. The hope is that the findings from this study will empower individuals with ID and potentially assist them when job searching. Additionally, the findings can assist community support organizations who advocate for people with ID and who speak to employers about the benefits to hiring people with ID. Furthermore, job coaches may be able to use this information to inform their job coaching and the way they approach and support employers. Finally, studies such as the present one can be used to inform policy such as financial assistance and program curriculum, like transition programs and adult job readiness programs. All in all, this research is intended for everyone. It is important for our society to recognize and respect the abilities of disabled people, and to assist in working toward inclusion for everyone.

### References

- 1 Raphael, D. (2006). Social determinants of health: Present status, unresolved questions, and future directions. *International Journal of Health Services*, *36*, 651-677.
- 2 Skellern, J., & Astbury, G. (2012). Gaining employment: The experience of students at a further education college for individuals with learning disabilities. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 42, 60-67. doi:10.1111/bld.12012
- 3 Waddell, G. & Burton, A.K. (2006). Is work good for your health and well-being? *Occupational Health Review*, 24, 30-31.
- 4 Lysaght, R., Petner-Arrey, J., Howell-Moneta, A., & Cobigo, V. (2016). Inclusion through work and productivity for persons with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 30, 922-935. doi:10.1111/jar.12284
- 5 Shandra, C.L. & Hogan, D.P., (2008). School-to-work program participation and the post-high school employment of young adults with disabilities. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 29, 117-130.
- 6 Prince, M.J., (2010). Canadian disability policy: Still a hit-and-miss affair. *The Canadian Journal of Sociology*, 29, 747-759.
- 7 Scott, M., Foley, K., Bourke, J., Leonard, H., & Girdler, S. (2014). "I have a good life": The meaning of wellbeing from the perspective of young adults with Down syndrome. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 35(15), 1290-1298. doi:10.3109/09638288.2013.854843
- 8 Domin, D. & Butterworth, J. (2013). The role of community rehabilitation providers in employment for persons with intellectual and developmental disabilities: Results of the 2010-2011 national survey. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *51*, 215-225.
- 9 Statistics Canada. (2006). Participation and Activity Limitation Survey. Government of Canada.
- 10 Butcher, S. & Wilton, R. (2008). Stuck in transition? Exploring the spaces of employment training for youth with intellectual disability. *Geoforum*, 39(2), 1079-1092. doi:10.1016/j.geoforum.2007.11.002
- 11 Zappella, E. (2015). Employers' attitudes on hiring workers with intellectual disabilities in small and medium enterprises: An Italian research. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 19(4), 381-392. doi:10.1177/1744629515580883
- 12 Amir, Z., Strauser, D., & Chan, F. (2009). Employer' and survivors' perspectives. In M. Feurstein (Ed.). *Work and Cancer Survivors* (pp 73-89). New York: Springer.
- 13 Hernandez, B., McDonald, K., Divilbiss, M., Horin, E., Velcoff, J., & Donoso, O. (2008). Reflections from employers on the disabled workforce: Focus groups with healthcare, hospitality and retail administrators. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal, 20*, 157-164. doi:10.1007/s10672-008-9063-5
- 14 Jasper, C. R., & Waldhart, P. (2012). Employer attitudes on hiring employees with disabilities in the leisure and hospitality industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 25(4), 577-594. doi:10.1108/09596111311322934
- 15 Kaye, H.S., Jans, L.H., & Jones, E.C. (2011). Why don't employers hire and retain workers with disabilities? Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation, 21, 526-536. doi:10.1007/s10926-011-9302-8
- 16 Lengnick-Hall, M.L., Gaunt, P.M., & Kulkarni, M. (2008). Overlooked and underutilized: People with disabilities are an untapped human resource. *Human Resource Management, 47*(2). 255-273. doi:10.1002/hrm.20211

- 17 American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (AAIDD)b. (n.d.). *Frequently Asked Questions on Intellectual Disability*. Retrieved October 14, 2017 from, https://aaidd.org/intellectualdisability/definition/faqs-on-intellectual-disability#.WeKW-ROPJE5
- 18 American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (AAIDD)a. (n.d.). *Definition of Intellectual Disability*. Retrieved October 14, 2017 from, http://aaidd.org/intellectualdisability/definition#.WeJz4xOPJE4
- 19 CLBCa, n.d. Community Living British Columbia (CLBC)a. (n.d.). *Eligibility for CLBC Supports and Services*. Retrieved December 7, 2017, from http://www.communitylivingbc.ca/policies\_and\_publications/pdf/ELIGIBILITY\_FOR\_CLBC.pdf
- 20 CLBCb, n.d. Community Living British Columbia (CLBC)b. (n.d.). Personalized Supports Initiative: Facts about Assessment. Retrieved December 7, 2017, from

http://www.communitylivingbc.ca/what\_we\_do/documents/FactsaboutAssessment.pdf

21 Kiernan, W.E., Hoff, D., Freeze, S., & Mank, D.B. (2011). Employment first: A beginning not an end. Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 49(4), 300-304. doi:10.1352/1934-9556-49.4.300

\*note names in quotes are pseudonyms